Case No. S270798

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

LAW FINANCE GROUP, LLC,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

VS.

SARAH PLOTT KEY,

Defendant and Respondent.

After a Published Decision by the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Two, Case No. B305790

From an Order Vacating an Arbitration Award Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. 19STCP04251 Honorable Rafael A. Ongkeko

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

*Margaret M. Grignon (SBN 76621) Anne M. Grignon (SBN 230355) GRIGNON LAW FIRM LLP 3780 Kilroy Airport Way, Suite 200 Long Beach, CA 90806 Telephone: 562.285.3171 Facsimile: 562.453.3571

Facsimile: 562.453.3571
mgrignon@grignonlawfirm.com

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. May equitable tolling be applied to Code of Civil Procedure section 1288.2's 100-day deadline to serve and file a request to vacate an arbitration award in a response to a petition to confirm the award?
- 2. May equitable estoppel be applied to Code of Civil Procedure section 1288.2's 100-day deadline to serve and file a request to vacate an arbitration award in a response to a petition to confirm the award?
- 3. May a court confirm an arbitration award that on its face violates fundamental public policy and contravenes unwaivable statutory rights, regardless of compliance with Code of Civil Procedure section 1288.2's 100-day deadline to serve and file a request to vacate an arbitration award in a response to a petition to confirm the award?
- 4. Where a petition to confirm an arbitration award is filed within 100 days of service of the award, and a response requesting the award be vacated is timely filed pursuant to the 10-day time limit of Code of Civil Procedure section 1290.6, is the response timely regardless of whether it is filed more than 100 days after service of the award?

II.

INTRODUCTION

Faced with an imminent probate court trial to invalidate a trust amendment effectively disinheriting her and an attorney threatening to withdraw, Defendant and Respondent Sarah Plott Key reluctantly accepted a litigation funding loan with interest of 1.53% per month, compounded monthly, and substantial loan-servicing fees. Plaintiff and Appellant Law Finance Group, LLC ("Lender") paid Key's attorneys \$2.4 million, which Key repaid in full. But Key did not pay Lender the \$3.5 million in illegal compound interest and loan-servicing fees it charged in addition to the \$2.4 million.

Key was correct. When Lender claimed its illegal interest and fees in arbitration, the Arbitrators found that Key's loan was a consumer loan, and compound interest and loan-servicing fees for consumer loans are illegal under the Financing Law. Loans violating these provisions are void and unenforceable, and a lender is prohibited from recovering any compensation for them. Instead of issuing an award for Key, however, the Arbitrators inexplicably awarded Lender approximately \$1.9 million in simple interest, attorneys' fees, costs and expenses, enforcing the illegal loan agreement.

Two weeks after the award was issued, Lender petitioned to confirm the award. Key's counsel immediately informed Lender that Key intended to seek to vacate the award. To coordinate rulings on the two petitions, the parties' counsel agreed: (1) to obtain a joint

hearing date for both petitions; (2) Key would file her petition to vacate after a joint hearing date had been obtained; and (3) the petition to vacate, responses and replies would be filed under a stipulated, joint briefing schedule. Only after Key filed her petition to vacate (130 days after service of the award) and her response to Lender's petition to confirm (139 days after service of the award), did Lender renege on its agreement and assert the award could not be vacated because Key had not filed her petition to vacate or response within the 100-days set forth in the statutes of limitations for arbitration award vacation, though she had filed them per the parties' agreed briefing schedule. Continuing its inequitable conduct, Lender took full advantage of all provisions of the stipulation that were to its benefit.

The trial court disagreed with Lender that Key's request to vacate the illegal award was untimely, and instead found the response timely because the parties had agreed to a briefing schedule. The trial court also found good cause to extend the due date for filing the response to the date on which it was actually filed. The trial court ordered the award vacated because it violated the Financing Law's public policy. Lender appealed and the Court of Appeal reversed on the ground the response was untimely. The Court of Appeal concluded the parties could not agree to extend the deadline and that no equitable relief was available because the 100-day statute of limitations is jurisdictional and absolute. The Court of Appeal ordered the trial court to confirm the arbitration award, thereby enforcing an illegal loan agreement.

This Court granted review. Key seeks reversal of the Court of Appeal judgment with directions that the trial court judgment be affirmed and the award vacated. First, the 100-day statute of limitations in Code of Civil Procedure section 1288.21 is an ordinary statute of limitations subject to equitable tolling under the courts' inherent equitable powers. The courts presume a statute of limitations is subject to equitable tolling, section 1288.2 contains no language precluding equitable tolling, the 100-day time limit is brief, and the legislative history does not demonstrate a clear legislative intent to foreclose equitable tolling. Key provided Lender timely notice of her intent to challenge the award, Lender was not prejudiced by the brief delay to which it had agreed, Key's counsel acted in good faith, and his conduct was objectively reasonable in light of the statutory language and existing case law. Fundamental practicality and fairness demand that section 1288.2's statute of limitations be equitably tolled.

Second, Lender is equitably estopped from asserting the 100-day statute of limitations. Section 1288.2 is subject to equitable estoppel, Lender agreed to extend the statutory deadlines and the mutually-beneficial briefing schedule, Key's counsel acted in good faith, and his conduct was objectively reasonable in light of the statutory language and existing case law. Lender misled Key's counsel into not filing Key's petition to vacate and response within 100 days of service of the award. Justice and equity demand that

¹ All future statutory references are to the Code of Civil Procedure unless otherwise indicated.

Lender be estopped from benefitting from its conduct.

Third, in all events, the award should not be confirmed. The loan agreement violates the Financing Law—it includes illegal compound interest and loan-servicing fees barred by the Financing Law. The agreement is therefore void and completely unenforceable. Nevertheless, the award enforces this illegal loan agreement, and confirmation of the award would make the courts complicit in enforcing illegal contracts.

Fourth, because Lender's petition to confirm the arbitration award was filed within 100 days of service of the award, Key's response requesting vacatur was timely filed within section 1290.6's 10-day time limit as extended by agreement of the parties and court order for good cause. When a petition to confirm is filed within 100 days of service of the award, section 1290.6's 10-day time limit supplants section 1288.2's 100-day time limit. A response complying with section 1290.6 is then timely regardless of whether it is filed more than 100 days after service of the award. This construction of the statutes is straightforward, reasonable and fair.

For each of these reasons, this Court should reverse the judgment of the Court of Appeal and order that the trial court's judgment be affirmed and the award be vacated.

III.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

Key borrowed \$2.4 million from Lender to finance her probate action establishing that her sister exercised undue influence over their mother in orchestrating an amendment to their parents' trust that effectively disinherited Key. (1 Appellant's Appendix ("AA") AA 107, 111.) Key repaid the \$2.4 million in full. (1 AA 107, 111.) This appeal arises out of Lender's attempt to enforce its void consumer loan that charged illegal compound interest and loan-servicing fees.

A. Key's Sister Attempts To Steal Key's One-Third Interest In Her Mother's Trust And Valuable Assets Of Her Father's Irrevocable Trusts Belonging To Key

Key is one of three daughters of Thomas and Elizabeth Plott ("Plotts"). (1 AA 107.) During their lives, the Plotts owned and operated a successful chain of skilled nursing homes and made numerous real estate investments. (1 AA 107.) In 1999, the Plotts signed the Plott Family Trust ("Trust"). (1 AA 107.) Under the terms of the Trust, as amended, each of the daughters was to receive a one-third interest. (1 AA 107.) Thomas Plott died in 2003, and Key's interest in her father's side of the Trust then became irrevocable. (1 AA 107.)

The Trust called for its assets to be allocated equally to Key's father's and mother's sides of the Trust shortly after Thomas Plott's death. (1 AA 107.) However, more than two years after Key's father's death, Key's sister had the assets allocated unequally, with valuable skilled nursing homes allocated to her mother's side, and

real estate assets requiring additional investment to maintain allocated to her father's side. (1 AA 107.) In 2007, an amendment to the Trust was executed by Key's mother, reducing Key's share in her mother's side of the Trust and effectively disinheriting her, and transferring millions of dollars in assets from her Father's irrevocable trusts to Key's sister. (1 AA 107.) Unbeknownst to Key at the time, the unequal asset allocations and the 2007 Amendment were orchestrated by Key's sister exercising undue influence on Key's mother. (1 AA 107, 139.)

Key's mother died on June 27, 2011. (1 AA 107.) Then, Key learned her father's side of the Trust had been substantially diminished in favor of her mother's side, and she had effectively been disinherited from her mother's side. (1 AA 107.) Most of Key's interest in her mother's side of the Trust had been transferred to her sister, including 65% of the skilled nursing homes, worth more than \$50 million. (1 AA 107-108; *Key v. Tyler* (June 29, 2016), Case No. B258055, 2016 WL 3587505, *5, fn. 5.)

B. Key Institutes Probate Litigation To Reverse The Changes To Her Parents' Trust Estate Orchestrated By Her Sister's Undue Influence

Key retained attorneys to help her reverse the Trust estate changes. (1 AA 108.) David Parker of Parker Shumaker & Mills LLP, an attorney working for Key on other related matters, referred her to Bruce Ross of Holland & Knight, LLP, a probate litigation attorney. (1 AA 108.) Ross represented Key in probate court to invalidate the 2007 amendment, for breach of trust, and for improperly taking trust property. (1 AA 108.) At the time of Holland

& Knight's retention, Key had \$2,225,000 in liquid assets to fund the probate litigation, but she began to receive substantial invoices from Holland & Knight in August 2012. (1 AA 108.) By mid-April 2013, with the probate trial still not begun, Key had almost no money left to pay for legal fees—the attorneys had already gone through almost her entire life savings. (1 AA 108.)

Ross told Key that Holland & Knight would carry the invoices for its legal services with 4% annual interest. (1 AA 108.) On April 25, 2013, Key thanked Ross for that agreement. (1 AA 108.)

One month later, Ross reneged. (1 AA 108.) Ross threatened Key on the eve of trial that she would have to pay Holland & Knight \$500,000 in one week and a total of \$1 million in one month, or Holland & Knight would not represent her in the upcoming probate trial. (1 AA 109.) Ross told Key he had already spoken to his former client, Alan Zimmerman, the CEO and owner of Lender, which would provide Key with alternative financing for Ross's fees. (1 AA 109.)

C. Lender Loans \$2.4 Million To Prosecute The Probate Litigation, Which Key Repays In Full

Lender, a California-licensed finance lender, extended Key a loan of up to \$3 million to pay her attorneys' fees as they were incurred, in the litigation over her family inheritance (approximately \$2.4 million was transferred to her attorneys to pay those fees). (1 AA 111-112.) The loan was governed by a June 28, 2013 Loan and Security Agreement ("Loan Agreement"). (1 AA 81-104, 109.) Key was not happy to sign the Loan Agreement, but she believed she had no other alternative due to Holland & Knight's reneging and

demands, and the impending trial date. (1 AA 111-112.)

The loan was arranged and negotiated by Holland & Knight and Parker, whose invoices also were to be paid by the loan. (1 AA 109, 111.) Interest accrued at the rate of 1.53% per month, compounded monthly. (1 AA 81, 86.) In the event of default, additional compound interest of 0.5% accrued monthly. (1 AA 85.) The Loan Agreement also charged a loan-servicing fee of 0.25% of the loan amount at the end of each month, a due-diligence fee, and an origination fee of \$60,000, which were added to the balance owed and compound interest applied. (1 AA 81.)

Key ultimately prevailed in the Trust amendment invalidity proceeding. (1 AA 111; *Key v. Tyler* (June 29, 2016), Case No. B258055, 2016 WL 3587505, *9.) Key repaid Lender \$2.4 million, but did not pay any of the illegal interest, fees, or costs charged by Lender. (1 AA 111; 3 AA 942-946; 6 AA 2103-2104; 8 AA 3866.)

The Loan Agreement included an arbitration provision. (1 AA 103.) Lender submitted the parties' dispute to arbitration, claiming breach of the Loan Agreement. (1 AA 58-59, 103; 5 AA 1620-1630.) In addition to its attorneys' fees, Lender sought almost \$3.5 million in unlawful compound interest and loan-servicing fees. (1 AA 111, 138.)

D. The Arbitrators Find The Loan Is A Consumer Loan Under The Financing Law And Lender Contracted For And Charged Unlawful Compound Interest And Loan-Servicing Fees

Under the Financing Law,² a "consumer loan" is a loan, "the proceeds of which are intended by the borrower for use primarily for personal, family, or household purposes." (Fin. Code, § 22203.) The Arbitrators found that Lender's loan to Key was a consumer loan. (1 AA 113.) "The loan was used to pay Key's personal attorneys to assist her in obtaining her mother's gifts to her. Key is a beneficiary of a family trust created to transfer gifts to the next generation in the family...." (1 AA 113-114.) The Arbitrators described the litigation as involving Key's personal claims of disinheritance caused by her sister's undue influence over her mother. (1 AA 113.)

The Arbitrators also found: "Key had personal and family interests in the underlying litigation with respect to the Plott Family Trust, in which she was seeking to reverse the trust amendment initiated by her sister.... Key's outstanding and future legal fees, which were the reason for the loan from [Lender], were personal legal fees of Key. Her retainer agreements with Holland & Knight and Parker Shumaker & Mills were personal transactions relating to the litigation concerning the Plott Family Trust." (1 AA 114.) The Arbitrators concluded the primary purpose of the loan is what matters, and the loan was used to pay Key's personal attorneys' fees,

² Effective October 4, 2017, the Finance Lenders Law name was changed to the Financing Law. (Fin. Code, § 22000, as amended by Stats. 2017, ch. 475, Assem. Bill No. 1284 (2017-2018 Reg. Sess.) § 4.)

associated with her challenge to her sister's undue influence over her mother. (1 AA 114.)

The Arbitrators further found that their conclusion was supported by the Loan Agreement, which referred to payment of attorneys' fees and costs for litigation of an inheritance and trust dispute. (1 AA 113.) The Arbitrators also found support in Lender's internal funding memorandum, which described the loan's purpose as payment of personal legal expenses incurred to Holland & Knight for the inheritance litigation, and to Parker Shumaker & Mills for a malpractice case related to that litigation. (1 AA 114.) Similarly, the memorandum described the loan proceeds as paying for attorneys' fees for trust litigation and the borrower as an individual. (1 AA 114.)

Finally, the Arbitrators cited CEO Zimmerman's testimony that the loan involved trust and estate litigation, where a loved one had died, and the people were dealing with grief and other very strong emotional issues. (1 AA 115.) Zimmerman had testified that trust and estate litigation is "not conducted by rational economic players that come up in a commercial lawsuit where there's a buyer and a seller." (1 AA 115.) Zimmerman's testimony indicated he knew the loan was a consumer loan and not a commercial loan. (See 8 AA 3279.)

The Arbitrators then found that for Key's consumer loan, compound interest was barred by Financial Code section 22309 and the loan-servicing fees were barred by Financial Code sections 22305 and 22306. (1 AA 115-116.) The Arbitrators also found that under

Financial Code section 22250, subdivision (b), "exempting the prohibitions on compounded interest and servicing fees in this case would undermine and evade the provisions of the California Financ[ing] Law." (1 AA 115.)

E. In Addition To The \$2.4 Million Transferred To Her Attorneys That Key Repaid, The Arbitrators Award Lender Approximately \$1.9 Million In Unlawful Interest, Attorneys' Fees, Costs And Expenses, Violating The Financing Law

Despite finding that Key's loan was a consumer loan and that Lender had charged impermissible compound interest and loan-servicing fees, the Arbitrators contravened the express provisions of Financial Code, section 22750, subdivision (a): "If any amount other than, or in excess of, the charges permitted by this division is willfully charged, contracted for, or received, the contract of loan is void, and no person has any right to collect or receive any principal, charges, or recompense in connection with the transaction." (Emphasis added.)

The Arbitrators thus violated the Financing Law in awarding Lender \$787,340 in interest as of September 18, 2019 for breach of the Loan Agreement. (1 AA 61-63.) This amount included 1.53% per month interest and 0.5% per month default interest. (1 AA 61-63.) The Arbitrators also awarded Lender prevailing party attorneys' fees of \$838,864 and costs of \$83,083.39, and imposed the arbitration forum's administrative fees and expenses on Key of \$29,400 and \$173,683. (1 AA 61-62.) The total amount awarded against Key was approximately \$1.9 million, when any award against Key based on

statutory public policy should have been zero.

The final arbitration award, as modified, was served on the parties on September 19, 2019. (1 AA 61-63, 106-123, 125-126.)

F. Lender Petitions To Confirm The Award And Key Seeks To Vacate The Award

On October 1, 2019 (12 days after service of the award), Lender filed its Petition to Confirm Arbitration Award, but did not obtain a hearing date. (1 AA 58; 9 AA 4249.) Lender petitioned the trial court to confirm the arbitration award that on its face violated Key's unwaivable statutory rights to a loan in compliance with the Financing Law and contravened public policy protecting borrowers from unfair lending practices. (1 AA 58, 113-116, 119, 122.)

On October 10, 2019 (21 days after service of the award), Lender and Key's counsel discussed (1) their mutual intent to disqualify the assigned trial judge, (2) Key's filing of a Petition to Vacate Arbitration Award, (3) Key's separate Response to Lender's Petition to Confirm, (4) coordination of the hearing date on the two competing petitions, and (5) a standard briefing schedule pursuant to section 1005, subdivision (b) based on the yet-to-be-obtained joint hearing date. (9 AA 4249.)

Key's counsel agreed that Key would waive personal service, Key's counsel would accept service of Lender's Petition to Confirm, and Key would file the disqualification motion (using Key's one peremptory challenge). (9 AA 4249-4250.) Counsel agreed that the briefing schedule for the two petitions would be jointly stipulated

with the same hearing date, and that this agreed schedule would extend the 10-day rule and replace the 100-day rule periods. (9 AA 4249-4250, 4275.) Lender agreed that Key would file her Petition to Vacate after a joint hearing date was set. (9 AA 4254, 4275.)

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