No. S270798

**IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA**

LAW FINANCE GROUP, LLC,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

SARAH PLOTT KEY,

Defendant and Respondent.

California Court of Appeal, Second District, Div. Two
Case No. B305790
Appeal from Los Angeles Superior Court
Case No. 19STCP04251
Honorable Rafael A. Ongkeko

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

WEINBERG GONSER FROST LLP

Christopher L. Frost, SBN 200336

chris@wgfcounsel.com

10866 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 1650

Los Angeles, California 90024

(424) 239-2850

GREINES, MARTIN, STEIN & RICHLAND LLP

Cynthia E. Tobisman, SBN 197983

ctobisman@gmsr.com

*Alana H. Rotter, SBN 236666

arotter@gmsr.com

Jeffrey E. Raskin, SBN 223608

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

But “legislative inaction is a weak reed upon which to lean.” (*Harris v. Capital Growth Investors XIV* (1991) 52 Cal.3d 1142, 1156, quotation marks omitted.) Legislative inaction may signal many things other than acquiescence with case law, including “the sheer pressure of other and more important business, political considerations, or a tendency to trust to the courts to correct their own errors.” (*Saint Francis, supra*, 9 Cal.5th at p. 723, quotation marks omitted [declining to infer legislative intent from lack of statutory amendments].)

Further undermining any inference based on inaction, the Legislature did not intervene when decisions held that section 1288.2 is jurisdictional and that relief is *not* available. (E.g., *Santa Monica, supra*, 243 Cal.App.4th at p. 545.) Thus, nothing can be read into the legislative inaction here.

deadline to challenge Labor Commissioner award; no analysis whether 1288.2 is jurisdictional and not subject to estoppel].)

The bottom line: Key has articulated no persuasive basis for concluding that section 1288.2's jurisdictional deadline is subject to equitable estoppel. It isn't.

B. Additionally, the Opinion correctly held that the circumstances here do not trigger estoppel.

The Opinion rejected Key's estoppel argument on its facts, holding that Key could not have reasonably believed that LFG had legal authority to waive section 1288.2's 100-day deadline. (Opn.-20.)⁸ The Court need not review that holding if it agrees that section 1288.2 is categorically immune from estoppel. But if the Court does reach this issue, the merits independently dispose of Key's estoppel claim.

Key's estoppel claim required her to establish that (1) LFG was apprised of the facts; (2) LFG behaved in a way that gave Key a right to believe that LFG intended its statements to be acted on; (3) Key was ignorant of the true state of facts; and

⁸ Contrary to Key's claim, the trial court did not "determine[] the issue as a matter of fact," nor did LFG have an opportunity to present contradictory evidence. (OBM-55-56.) In the trial court, the only place Key argued estoppel was in her attorneys' *declarations* accompanying her *reply* in support of the petition to vacate. (9-AA-4254, 4276.) There was no opportunity for LFG to refute her reply declarations. Moreover, the trial court held it lacked jurisdiction to consider the petition to vacate because Key failed to comply with section 1288, and considered her response seeking vacatur only because it found "good cause" to extend the *section 1290.6* deadline. (9-AA-4280-4282.) The court did not discuss section 1288.2's deadline or find that LFG was estopped to enforce it. (*Ibid.*)

(4) Key reasonably relied on LFG’s statements. (*May v. City of Milpitas* (2013) 217 Cal.App.4th 1307, 1338.)

Key bears the burden of establishing all of these elements. (*Id.* at p. 1337.) She cannot do so, for multiple reasons.

No showing that LFG was apprised of the facts. Key’s core premise is that LFG agreed in writing that a stipulated briefing schedule would replace the “statutory deadlines” and “statutory limitations” for responses, i.e., sections 1290.6 and 1288.2. (OBM-54-55.)

But the record belies that premise. The emails between the parties’ attorneys do not mention section 1288.2. They only reference section 1290.6’s 10-day deadline. (9-AA-4257-4272.)

Key’s attorney’s summary of his call with LFG’s attorney likewise does not mention any agreement about section 1288.2; Key’s attorney said that they discussed that the *section 1290.6* deadline “would be replaced by” the parties’ agreed-on schedule. (9-AA-4250.) There is no evidence that LFG’s attorney thought about *section 1288.2* (which applied only to Key, not to LFG), realized that the briefing schedule might push Key’s response beyond the 100-day deadline, or intentionally waived that deadline. (OBM-56.) Key therefore cannot show that LFG was apprised of *any* fact that she was unaware of.

No showing that LFG made a representation about section 1288.2. The absence of any discussion between the attorneys about section 1288.2 dooms Key’s estoppel claim for another reason, too. To justify reliance, a statement must be

“plain, not doubtful or matter of questionable inference. Certainty is essential to all estoppels.” (*Steinhart, supra*, 47 Cal.4th at p. 1318.) Yet, Key relies on inference, not certainty: She asks the Court to infer that LFG’s explicit agreement to a briefing schedule included an *implicit* agreement to forego enforcing a statutory deadline that the parties never discussed. There is no basis for that inference. As noted, there is no evidence that LFG’s attorney was thinking about section 1288.2 or when that statutory deadline would fall. Key’s attorney knew how to elicit and document an explicit waiver when he wanted to: He and LFG’s attorney specifically agreed that section 1290.6 would not apply. (9-AA-4250.) There is no parallel statement regarding section 1288.2.

Key’s attorney could not reasonably rely on an *assumption* that LFG was *implicitly*, knowingly waiving that deadline.

LFG had no authority to waive section 1288.2. Unlike section 1290.6, section 1288.2 does not state that the parties can extend or waive its deadline by stipulation. (§§ 1290.6, 1288.2.) Rather, section 1288.2 is a jurisdictional deadline that the parties cannot change or waive. (§ II.A.2., *ante.*)

Key’s attorney is charged with this knowledge of California law. (*Steinhart, supra*, 47 Cal.4th at p. 1316; *Abers, supra*, 217 Cal.App.4th at p. 1210.) As the Opinion correctly reasons, Key’s attorney therefore “could not have reasonably believed that LFG had the legal *authority*” to waive section 1288.2. (Opn.-20.) Any reliance on a supposed implicit agreement by LFG to waive

section 1288.2 was not reasonable and cannot support estoppel. (*Phillippe v. Shapell Industries* (1987) 43 Cal.3d 1247, 1262 [“To give rise to equitable estoppel, the promisee’s reliance must be reasonable”]; *Parsons v. Bristol Development Co.* (1965) 62 Cal.2d 861, 869 [“*Reasonable reliance* resulting in a foreseeable prejudicial change in position is the essence of equitable estoppel,” italics added].)

Estoppel is particularly disfavored when the party asserting it “is represented by an attorney at law.” (*Steinhart, supra*, 47 Cal.4th at p. 1316.)

The facts here do not overcome that disfavor. Key’s attorney never asked LFG whether it intended to waive section 1288.2, nor would LFG have had the power to do so in any event. LFG therefore is not estopped from enforcing that deadline.

IV. The 100-Day Deadline Applies Equally To Arguments That An Arbitration Award Enforces An Illegal Contract.

Key contends that the 100-day vacatur deadline does not apply where, as here, a party seeks vacatur on the ground that an award violates public policy by enforcing an illegal contract. (OBM-56-62.)⁹ Such a rule is at odds with the deadline’s

⁹ The arbitrators struck the compound-interest and service-fee Agreement terms that they incorrectly found violated the Financial Code, and instead required Key to pay simple interest. (1-AA-115-118.) Key has not argued that charging simple interest on a loan is inherently illegal. Rather, her public-policy argument is that the Financial Code required the arbitrators to

jurisdictional nature and with this Court’s own precedent recognizing that parties can waive such objections. This Court should reject it.

A. The 100-day deadline’s jurisdictional nature is dispositive.

The 100-day deadline limits courts’ *fundamental jurisdiction* to consider vacatur. (§ II.A.2., *ante.*) In this respect, it is similar to the new-trial-motion and notice-of-appeal deadlines—absent compliance, the court *has no power* to act. (*Kabran, supra*, 2 Cal.5th at p. 342 [“the court has no power” absent a timely-filed notice of intent to move for a new trial]; *Van Beurden Ins. Services, Inc. v. Customized Worldwide Weather Ins. Agency, Inc.* (1997) 15 Cal.4th 51, 56 [“the appellate court has no power” to consider an untimely-filed appeal].)

The jurisdictional deadlines for new trial motions and notices of appeal are not excused just because the moving party/appellant challenges the judgment as contrary to public policy or enforcing an illegal contract. Does that mean courts may sometimes have to dismiss an appeal, or deny a new trial motion, despite an argument that a judgment violates fundamental public policy or an unwaivable statutory right? Yes. But jurisdictional time limits serve purposes that reflect their own critical public policies. Where the Legislature has tied the

declare the Agreement *entirely* void instead of enforcing it as modified to excise the offending provisions. (9-AA-4045-4067.)

courts' hands, the courts cannot act even when doing so would prevent a violation of some other public policy.

The same is true of the jurisdictional deadline to seek vacatur. On its face, the 100-day deadline is absolute. It applies to every “petition to vacate an award” and to every “response requesting that an award be vacated” (§§ 1286.2, 1286.4, 1288, 1288.2.) There can be no judicial review for untimely vacatur requests simply because they “assert that the award contravenes a statute; to do so would create an exception that would swallow the general rule hinging jurisdiction on the timeliness of the challenge.” (*Santa Monica, supra*, 243 Cal.App.4th at p. 546.)

B. This Court has already recognized that contract-illegality arguments are waived if not timely raised.

Key argues that courts must vacate awards that enforce an illegal contract, even absent a timely vacatur request. (OBM-60-61.) Her premise is that a party cannot “waive[]” illegality claims by failing to timely raise them. (*Ibid.*)¹⁰ Yet, this Court has already recognized that illegality arguments are waived if not timely raised. Although those decisions did not

¹⁰ This is technically a forfeiture, not a waiver, but we use the term “waiver” to match the terminology in Key’s brief and in other cases discussed in this section. (See *In re S.B.* (2004) 32 Cal.4th 1287, 1293, fn. 2 [forfeiture is the loss of a right based on a failure to timely assert it; waiver is the intentional relinquishment or abandonment of a known right].)

specifically involve the 100-day deadline for seeking vacatur, they defeat Key’s premise that courts must *always* consider illegality arguments, with no timing restrictions. Claims that a contract is illegal or that an award violates public policy by enforcing an illegal contract are forfeited if not timely raised. A party therefore cannot escape the 100-day vacatur deadline merely by making such a claim.

1. **In *Moncharsh*, this Court concluded that parties waive judicial review of whether a contract is illegal if they fail to timely raise illegality before or during arbitration.**

Moncharsh v. Heily & Blase (1992) 3 Cal.4th 1, considered two different types of illegality arguments: (1) arguments that “only a portion” of the contract is illegal, and (2) arguments that an “entire contract” is illegal. (*Id.* at pp. 29-32.) *Moncharsh* concluded that *both* types of claims of illegality are waived if not timely raised.

Partial illegality. A claim that part of a contract is illegal is an arbitrable assertion, unless the illegality argument implicates the legality of the contract’s arbitration provision. (*Id.* at p. 30.) Judicial review of the resulting arbitration award may be available when a party argues that the award violates public policy or that party’s unwaivable rights. (*Id.* at p. 32-33.) But *Moncharsh* restricted the availability of such review. (*Id.* at pp. 30-31.) The plaintiff in *Moncharsh* claimed that an arbitration award enforced an illegal contractual fee-splitting

provision. (*Id.* at p. 30.) Because that single-provision-illegality issue did not call into question the enforceability of the contract’s arbitration provision, the plaintiff “was not required to first raise the issue of illegality in the trial court in order to preserve the issue for later judicial review.” (*Ibid.*)

But the Court went on to state: “The issue *would have been waived*, however, had [the plaintiff] *failed to raise it before the arbitrator*.” (*Ibid.*, italics added.) Claims that the arbitrator violated public policy by enforcing an illegal contract provision are waived “for *any future judicial review*” if those issues were not promptly raised before the arbitrator. (*Id.* at p. 31, italics added [finding illegality issue “preserved for our review” because it was timely raised in arbitration]; see also, e.g., *Paramount Unified School Dist. v. Teachers Assn. of Paramount* (1994) 26 Cal.App.4th 1371, 1386 [holding, based on *Moncharsh*, that appellant “waived for any judicial review” argument that an arbitration award was illegal by failing to raise it first before the arbitrator]; *Sargon Enterprises, Inc. v. Browne George Ross LLP* (2017) 15 Cal.App.5th 749, 761-762 [under *Moncharsh*, party had to raise argument that award violated its rights “with the arbitrator in order to preserve it for judicial review”].)

Moncharsh explained the important policy rules animating this waiver doctrine:

- “Any other conclusion is inconsistent with the basic purpose of private arbitration, which is to finally

decide a dispute between the parties.” (3 Cal.4th at p. 30.)

- “[W]e cannot permit a party to sit on his rights, content in the knowledge that should he suffer an adverse decision, he could then raise the illegality issue in a motion to vacate the arbitrator’s award.” (*Ibid.*)
- “A contrary rule would condone a level of ‘procedural gamesmanship’ that we have condemned as ‘undermining the advantages of arbitration.’” (*Ibid.*)
- “Such a waste of arbitral and judicial time and resources should not be permitted.” (*Ibid.*)

Entire-contract illegality. A claim that an *entire contract is illegal*—i.e., that “grounds exist to revoke the entire contract”—must be raised in the trial court *before arbitration* to “preserve the issue for later judicial review.” (*Id.* at pp. 29-30.) This is because entire-contract illegality “would also vitiate the arbitration” provision and permit the party to “avoid arbitration altogether.” (*Ibid.* [plaintiff did not have to object to arbitration on illegality grounds to preserve claim that a single provision was illegal as opposed to entire-contract illegality]; see also *Pearson Dental Supplies, Inc. v. Superior Court* (2010) 48 Cal.4th 665, 680-681 [plaintiff forfeited argument that language in arbitration agreement violated public policy and rendered the agreement

unconscionable, by failing to raise it in opposing petition to compel arbitration].)¹¹

The take-away message: An argument that an entire contract is void or that a provision violates public policy must be timely raised or else the award enforcing the contract will be confirmed.

2. In *Richey*, this Court deemed forfeited an illegality argument raised for the first time on appeal.

This Court has similarly applied ordinary forfeiture rules to a late argument that an arbitration award enforces an illegal contract provision.

In *Richey v. AutoNation, Inc.* (2015) 60 Cal.4th 909, the arbitrator ruled that an employer did not violate California and federal law by terminating an employee based on a company policy against employees engaging in outside employment while on protected medical leave. (*Id.* at pp. 912-913.) The plaintiff's answering brief in this Court argued that the employer's policy was "illegal" and that the arbitration award therefore "denied Appellant his unwaivable legal right to be protected from discrimination and retaliation based on taking [statutory] medical leave." (Answering Brief On the Merits in *Richey v.*

¹¹ Key violated this rule: She did not raise her argument that the entire "Loan Agreement is void" and that "it is an unenforceable illegal contract" (OBM-57-58) to a court pre-arbitration. Indeed, she did not resist arbitration at all; she even filed counterclaims. (6-AA-1951.)

AutoNation, Inc., No. S207536 (filed June 17, 2013) 2013 WL 3809590, at *36-37.)

The Court found that the plaintiff had “forfeited” this argument by “failing to raise it in the trial court.” (60 Cal.4th at p. 920, fn. 3, citing *Delaney v. Dahl* (2002) 99 Cal.App.4th 647, 660.) The Court “express[ed] no opinion” on the merits of the forfeited illegality issue, and affirmed the order confirming the arbitration award. (*Ibid.*)

3. Because this Court has long recognized that illegality/public-policy claims are waived if not timely raised, it follows that such claims are not exempt from the statutory deadline for seeking vacatur.

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